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APPENDIX A
DRAFT
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

..
Veterans Administration Medical Center Docket No. 030-10026
Albany, New York 12208 License No. 21-02755-05%

As a result of the inspection vonducted on November 20 and 21, 1990, ana in

accordance with the "Gereral Statement of Policy and Procedure for NRC

Enforcement Actions," 10 CFR Part 2, Appendix C (Enforcement Policy) (1990),

the following violations were identified:

A, 10 CFR 20.207(a) reguires that licensed material stored in an unrestricted
are' be secured against unauthorized removal from the place of storage.

1C CFR 23.207(b) requires that materials not in storage be under the

constant surveillance and immediate control of the licensee. As defined

in 10 CFR 20.3(a)(17), an unrestricted area is any area access to which is
ngt contralled by the licensee for purposes of protection of individuals

from exrosure to ragicactive materials.

Contrary to the zbove, on August 3, 1990, a shipmert of radiocactive
material (1 millicurie of tritium) was left unsecured in an unrestricted
area (hallway) and not under the constant surveillance and immediate

control of the licensee.

This is a Severity Level !II violation. (Supplement IV)

91031 W
) P



o

.

g LK TR e R v

“Appendix A 2

10 CFR 35.315(a)(8) requires that licensees, for each patient receiving
radiopharmaceutical therapy and hospitalized for compliance with 10 C#R
35.75, measure the thyroid burden of each individual who helped prepare
or administer a dosage of fodine-131 within 3 days after administering

the dosage.

Contrary to the above, as of November 21, 1990, an individual who prepared
and administered a dosage of fodine~131 on July 13, 1990 did not have the

required Sivassay, within 3 days after administering the dosage.
This is & Severity Level IV violation. (Suppiement VI)

10 CFR 35.22(b)(6) requires that Radiation Safety Committee review
annuvally, with the assistance of the Radiation Safety Officer, the
radiaticn safety program.

contrary to the above, as of Novemper 21, 1990, the Radfation Safety
Committee, with the assistance of the Radiation Safety Officer have

failed tc review the radiation safety program for 13989,

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)
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10 CFR 35.205(c) requires that before receiving, using or storing a
radioactive gas, licensees calculate the amount of time needed after a
spill to reduce the concentration in the room to the limit listed in

10 CFR 20, Appendix B, Table I, that a record of these calculations be
made, and that licensees post the calculated time and safety measures to

be instituted in case of a spill at the area of use.

Contrary to the above, as of Novemder 21, 1990, no caleculation (or posting)
cf the time needed after a spill of xenon-133 to reduce the concentration

in the imaging room (Room 626D) to the applicable limit has been perfermed.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Suppiement V1)

10 CFR 20.303 cescribes requirements for tne disposal of ragicactive
materials by release into the sanitary sewerage system. 10 CFR 20.401
requires that each licensee maintain records of disposals mage under
10 CFR 20.303.

Contrary to the above, as of Novemper 21, 1990, adequate records of
disposals of radicactive material by reiease into the sanitar.
sewerage system, for 1988 and 1989, were not maintained as required
under 10 CFR 20.401.

'1“
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This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement IV)
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Contrary to .ne above, as of Novemoer 21, 1590 the licensee failed to
adequately instruct all individuals working in or frequenting any portion
of a restricted area in the health problems associated with exposure to
radicactive materials, in precautions and procedures to minimize exposure
“nd the applicable provisions of Commission requiations and licenses for

the protection of personnel from exposures to radicactive materials.

This is a Severity Level IV viclation. (Supplement VI)

:0 CFR 35.50(b)(2) requires that the licensee check the dose calibrator

for accuracy upon installation and at least annually thereafter.

Contrary to the above, as of Novemoer 21, 1990, dose calibrator accuracy

tests are not being performed.

This 15 a Severity Leve! IV viglation., (Supplement VI)

10 CFR 35.25 requires, in part, that a licensee that permits the receipt,
possession, use, or transter ¢f byproduct material by an individual under
the supervision of an authorized user as allowed by 10 CFR 35.11 shal!
require the supervised indivigdual to follow the instructions of the
supervisory authorized user, follow the procedures established by the
Radiation Safety Officer, and comply with the regulations of 10 CFR 35 and

license conditions with respect to the use of byproduct material, 10 CER

¢

.25 further states that a licensee who supervises an individual is

respunsible for the acts and omissions of the supervised individual,
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Appendix A 7

1) The licensee's procedures described in Appendix 20 of the license
application require that individuals do not eat, drink, smoke or
- apply cosmetics in any area where radiocactive material is stored

or used.

Contrary to the above, on November 20, 1900 evidence of eating and
r drinking was observed in five research laboratories (Rooms A607, A625,

AB29, 8607 ang B620) where radioactive material is storea or used.

This 1s 8 Severity Level 1V violatioen. (Supplement V1)

2) The licensee's procedures described in item ¢ of letter dated
March 16, 1987 require that individuals survey their hands, shoes,
body ang clothing for radicactive contamination prior 2 leaving an

area wnere radigactive materials are used.

' N Contrary to the above, on Novemper 20 and 21, 1930 numercus individuals
were observed leaving research areas where radicactive materials are
; used without surveying their hands, shoes, body and cicthing for

radicactive contamination,

This is a Severit; Level IV violation. (Supplement V1)
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Appendix A 9

8) The licensee's procedures described in Section 3.1.4 of the license
appiication require authorized users maintain on file, up=to-date
records of the use, disposition, storage and disposal of all
radionuciides including the amount of radfoactivity, isotope,

" chemical form, vclume or weight, date of analysis, company and

location of fsotope.

Contirary to the above, as of Novemper 21, 1990 up-to-gate records of
radicactive waste disposal were not maintained by the authorized user

for radicactive waste generated in Room AE07.

This is a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

10 CFR 35.21 regquires, in part, that the Radiation Safety Officer establish

and impiement written policy and procedures for performing periodic

radiation surveys. The Radiation Safety Officer established procegures

., Tequires that the xenon airborne concentrations 1n restricted areas and

releases to unrestricted areas be calculated to demcnstrate compliance

A~ .

with 10 CFR 20.103 and 10 CFR 20.106 requirements, respectively.

Contrary to the above, as of November 21, 1990, the xenon airborne
concentration in restricted areas (room 6260) and release to unrestricted
areas were not calculated to demonstrate compliance with 10 CFR 20.103 and

10 CFR 20.106 reauirements.

This 15 a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)
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N. 10 CFR 35.13(e) requires that a licensee shall apply for and must receive
a license amendment before it adds to or changes the areas of use or

address or addresses of use identified in the application or in the license.

*Gontrary to the above, as of November 21, 1990, the licensee changed
tne location of radicactive xencn gas use from room 609D to 625D without

applying for or receiving a license amendment.

This 15 a Severity Level IV violation. (Supplement VI)

0. 10 CFR 35.50(e)(3) requires thzt records be maintained of quarteriy dose
calibrator linearity tests for 3 years unless directed otherwise and that
the recor2 inciude the model and serial number of the dose caiibrator, the
calculated activities, the measured activities, the date of the test and

the signaturr of the Radiation Safety Officer.
contrary to the above, as of Novemdber 21, 1990, records of gquarterly
linearity tests did not contain the serial number of the dose calibrator

and the signature of the Radiation Safety Officer.

This is a Severity Level V violation. (Supplement VI)
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Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Veterans Administratiun Medical
Center is hereby required to submit to this office within thirty days of the
date of the letter which transmitted this Notice, a written statement or
explanation in reply, including: (1) the corrective steps whi+h have Leen taken
and the results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to aveid
further violations; and (3) the date when full compliiance will da achieved.
where good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending this

response time.



Docket No. 030-1002¢

License No. 31-02755-05

Veterans administration Medical Center, Albany, New York

e
Inspection

90-001
(Novemper 20 ang 21, 199%0)

Inspection History

Results

Violation = 10 CFR 20.207(a) - Failure
to secure licensed material against
ynauthorized removal.

Vielation = 10 CFR 35.215(a)(8) -
Failure to perform hicassay on an
individual who prepared an Iodine~131
therapy dose,

Violation = 10 CFR 35.22(b)(6) =
Failure to conduct an annual review cof
the radiation safety program.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.21 = Failure to
make surveys to demonstrate compiiance
with 10 CFR 20.103 and 20.106 in

accorcance with licensee's procedures.

Vielation = 10 CFR 35.205(c) - Failure
to calculate and post spilled gas
clearance times,

Violation - 10 CFR 20.401 - Failure to
maintain adequate records of disposals
made under 10 CFR 20.303.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.70(d) - Failure
to establish dose rate trigger ‘evels
for area surveys.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.5%(b)(2) = Failure

to perform sealed source leakage tests
at the required freguency.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.205(e) = Failure

to measure imaging room ventilation rates.



Inspection
90-001 (continued)

Results

Violation = 10 CFR 35.315(a)(7) -
Failure to assess limits of removable
contamination before releasing a
radicpharmaceutical therapy room for
unrestricted use.

Violation = 10 CFR 19.12 - Failure to
adequately instruct all occupaticnally
exposed individuals in the heaith
protection problems associated with
exposure to radicactive materials.

Violations = 10 CFR 35.50(b)(2)
- Failure t. perform dose calibrator
accuracy tests.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.25 = Evidence of
eating and drinking in areas where
radicactive materials are used or stored.

Violation = 10 CFR 35,25 - Failure to
survey hands, shoes, bogy and ciothing
prior to leaving areas where radiocactive
materials are used.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.25 - Failure
to notify Radiation Safety Officer
of changes in laboratory personnel
and location.

Violation - 10 CFR 35,25 « Failure to
wear film badges,

Violation = 10 CFR 35.25 = Failure of
authorized user to maintain records of
waste disposal.

Violation - 10 CFR 35.13(e) - Failure
to apply for and receive a license
amenament before changing areas of
radicactive material use.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.50(e)(3) -
Failure to maintain adeouate dose
calibrator linearity records.

Violation = 10 CFR 35.50(e)(1) -
Failure to maintain adeguate dose
calibrator constancy records.



Inspection
90-001 (continued)

89-001
(October 30, 1989)

88-001
(Novemper 14 and 15, 1988)

86-001
(Octoder 23 anc 24, 1986)

"84-001
(September 26, 1984)

80-001
(May 1 and 2, 1980)

78-001
(August 3 and 4, 1978)

Results

Violation = 10 CFR 35.50(e)(4) -
Failure to maintain adequate dose
calibrator geometry records.

Violation « 10 CFR 35.59(g) - Failure
to conduct seaied source inventories
at the reguired quarterly frequency.

Violation - 10 CFR 35.204(c) -
Molybdenum concentration records did
not contain the time of the measurement.

Form 591
Form 591
Clear Letter

Violation = 10 CFR 20.207 - Licensed
material not secured against
unauthorized removal and not under an
constant surveiilance and immegiate
control of the licensee,

Violation = License Congition 20 =
Failure to use syringe shields while
preparing and administering
radiopharmaceuticals.

Violation = 10 CFR 20.201(b) - Failure
t0 make such surveys as may be
necessary to comply with all sections
of Part 20, Specifically, failure to
assure compliance with 10 CFR 20.106,
"Concentrations in effluents to
unrestricted areas".

Clear letter
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Inspection

76=001
(September 13, 1976)

73-001
{August 15 and 17, 1973)

Results

Violation = 10 CFR 20.201(b) - Failure
to make such surveys as may be needed
to comply with all Sections of Part 20.
Specifically, failure to make surveys
to determine that persons handling
significant quantities of fodine-125
were not exposed to airborne concentra-
tions in excess of the limits in 10 CFR
20.103.

Violation = 10 CFR 20.201(b) =

Failure to make such surveys

as may be necessary to comply

with all sections of Part 20.
Specifically, failure to adequately
evaluate hand exposures incurred

by technologists administering

15 millicurie doses of 99m technetium.



